
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

URBANA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Criminal No.

Violations: 18 U.s.c. § 1344 and 2
18 U.s.c. § 1343
18 U.s.c. § 1014
18 U.s.c. § 1957 and 2

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

INDICTMENT

COUNTS ONE - FOUR
(Bank Fraud)

INTRODUCTION

1. Starting at least as early as April 2008 and continuing to in or about

February 2010, SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO, aided by one or more persons known

and unknown to the Grand Jury, engaged in a fraudulent real estate scheme by which

he defrauded the Arcola Homestead Savings Bank (hereafter, II Arcola Bank") and

others of approximately $2,500,000.

BACKGROUND

2. One method of real estate financing in the United States is loans obtained

through banks and other financial institutions. Such financing can be used for the

purchase and refinance of residential and commercial property. Residential and

commercial loans can be amortized over varying lengths of years.
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3. As part of the loan process, a Uniform Residential Loan Application

(Fannie Mae Form 1003), is typically completed. The application requests, among other

things, information about the loan amount, the purpose of the loan, the applicant's

ability to repay, and the applicant's general creditworthiness. As part of the loan

process, real estate appraisals are performed to determine the value of the residential or

commercial property to be financed.

4. Generally, a bank employee prepares the documents for the loan

committee to identify the applicant, purpose of the loan, collateral for the loan, real

estate appraisal, term of the loan, interest rate, applicant's net worth, applicant's cash

flow analysis, as well as comments. The committee relies on these documents,

including the applicant's application and other representations in determining whether

or not to approve the loan.

5. As part of the closing of a real estate transaction, financial institutions use

a standard closing form, known as BUD-l, as a statement and listing of settlement

costs. The purpose of the BUD-l is to clearly itemize all charges imposed upon and

disbursements to the buyer/borrower (hereafter, "borrower") and seller in connection

with the dosing of a real estate sale. For refinancing transactions, the BUD-llists any

mortgage that is to be paid off with proceeds of the new mortgage.
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6. Title insurance companies issue insurance policies that compensate

borrowers for loss due to title defects and encumbrances which were unknown but

should have been discovered at the time the title policy is issued. Lenders use title

insurance companies to close the loans and disburse the loan proceeds.

7. At all times material hereto, Arcola Bank, located in Arcola, Illinois in the

Central District of Illinois, was a financial institution whose deposits were insured by

the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (hereafter "FDIC"). Arcola Bank had a loan

policy which provided, among other things, that Arcola Bank offered refinancing of

commercial and residential mortgages to individuals who already owned the property.

8. On or about June 4, 2010, Arcola Bank was closed by the Illinois

Department of Financial Professional Regulation and the FDIC was appointed as

receiver.

THE DEFENDANT

9. SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO was the president and sole shareholder of

Avanti Equity Group, LLC and X Factor Equity, LLC, both of which had a mailing

address in Lombard, Illinois. Avanti Equity and X Factor Equity provided mortgage

brokerage services, mortgage marketing services, underwriting services, and mortgage

payment collection services.
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THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

10. Beginning from at least April 2008 and continuing to in or about

February 2010, in the Central District of Illinois and elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

defendant herein, knowingly devised and participated in a scheme and artifice to

defraud Arcola Bank and to obtain moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, and other

property owned by, and under the custody and control of, Arcola Bank, by means of

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

11. It was a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DIBENEDETTO

represented to Arcola Bank that he was performing"mortgage management services"

on behalf of and for the benefit of Arcola Bank whereby DIBENEDETTO was allowed to

perform all activities related to the issuing of the mortgages to include: the processing

of mortgage applications, checking of credit score on applicants, requesting of

appraisals, selection of title company for closings, and the final write-up of the loans to

be presented to the board for approval.

12. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that

DIBENEDETTO represented to owners of distressed residential and commercial

property that the property should be transferred to a third party who would obtain

financing through Arcola Bank, rehabilitate the property, and sell to buyers

DIBENEDETTO knew were interested. DIBENEDETTO further represented that these

transactions were tax exempt as the properties were sold for less than $100.00. The
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property owners then executed Quit Claim Deeds, releasing their ownership of the

properties to the third party.

13. It was further a part of the scheme that DIBENEDETTO recruited small

business owners to buy residential and commercial real estate in Chicago, Illinois and

surrounding areas. DIBENEDETTO falsely represented that:

a. he would assist the borrower in obtaining financing from Arcola
Bank;

b. he would pay the mortgage payments and related expenses of the
property until the property was sold and the mortgage paid; and

c. that the properties were worth the appraised amount, which was
more than the loan amount.

14. It was a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that DIBENEDETTO

caused representations to be made on loan applications which falsely reflected, among

other things, applicant's income, the applicant's assets, the appraised value of the

property, the existence of a current mortgage, and the amount of cash down payment.

15. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice to defraud that

DIBENEDETTO falsely represented that the loan proceeds would be used to rehabilitate

the subject property. In truth and fact, the loan proceeds were not used to rehabilitate

the property but instead were converted to DIBENEDETTO's own use and benefit.

16. It was further a part of the scheme that DIBENEDETTO represented to the

title company that he was an authorized representative of Arcola Bank. Based on his

false and fraudulent representations, the title company allowed DIBENEDETTO to take
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the closing documents and close the loan. The closing documents were purportedly

notarized by an individual identified herein as J.D.

17. It was further a part of the scheme that DIBENEDETTO provided false

information to Arcola Bank personnel which caused loan proceeds to be deposited into

the title company's account. Thereafter, based on DIBENEDETTO's representations, the

title company disbursed the funds to accounts controlled by DIBENEDETTO and

another.

18. It was further a part of the scheme that DIBENEDETTO used loan

proceeds to pay the expenses of the properties, thereby perpetuating the scheme.

Further, DIBENEDETTO converted loan proceeds to his own personal use and benefit.

19. As a result of the scheme and artifice to defraud, the loans went into

default after borrowers were notified by Arcola Bank that the bank was unable to accept

payment on the loans from a single source, that being DIBENEDETTO. In sum,

DIBENEDETTO engaged in approximately six fraudulent real estate transactions,

defrauding Arcola Bank and the FDIC of approximately $2.5 million.

EXECUTION OF THE SCHEME

20. On or about the below-listed dates, in the Central District of Illinois and

elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

defendant herein, executed and attempted to execute the scheme and artifice to defraud

as described above:
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Count

1

2

3

4

12/15/2008

7/29/2009

7/30/2009

6/17/2009

Transaction

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
the property located at 4521 West Ogden
Avenue, Chicago, Illinois.

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
the property located at 2815 S. Hamlin
Avenue Chicago, Illinois.

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for the
property located at 2905 Throop, Chicago,
Illinois.

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
property located at 604 East 90th Place,
Chicago, Illinois.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2.

COUNTS FIVE - EIGHT
(Wire Fraud)

21. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1

through 19 of this Indictment.

22. On or about the below-listed dates, in the Central District of Illinois and

elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

defendant herein, for the purpose of executing the scheme described above, caused to

be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce, the signals and

sounds described below for each count, each transmission constituting a separate count:
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Count

5

6

7

8

12/15/08

8/13/2009

9/2/2009

7/14/2009

Wire Communication

Wire transfer of $590,290.67 from UMB Bank in
the State of Missouri through the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, who maintains
their wire transfer system in the State of New
Jersey to the Prism Title Company account in
the State of Illinois.

Wire transfer of $299,730.09 from UMB Bank in
the State of Missouri through the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, who maintains
their wire transfer system in the State of New
Jersey to the Prism Title Company account in
the State of Illinois.

Wire transfer of $279,611.83 from UMB Bank in
the State of Missouri through the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, who maintains
their wire transfer system in the State of New
Jersey to the Prism Title Company account in
the State of Illinois.

Wire transfer of $221,304.99 from UMB Bank in
the State of Missouri through the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, who maintains
their wire transfer system in the State of New
Jersey to the Prism Title Company account in
the State of Illinois.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

COUNTS NINE - TWELVE
(False Statements on Loan Applications)

23. The Grand Jury incorporates by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1

through 19 of this Indictment.
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24. On or about the below-listed dates, in the Central District of Illinois and

elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

knowingly made material false statements for the purpose of influencing the action of

Arcola Homestead Savings Bank, a financial institution whose deposits were then

insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, in connection with applications

to secure refinance loans, in that DIBENEDETTO made false statements about the

ownership of the properties, the credit worthiness of the applicants, the fair market

value of the properties, and the existing mortgages on the properties; when in truth and

in fact, as DIBENEDETTO well knew, the applicants did not own the property, the

applicants did not receive the income represented on the application, the value of the

property was overstated, and there were no existing mortgages on the properties. Each

transmission of false statements constituting a separate count:

Count

9

10

11

12/15/2008

7/29/2009

7/30/2009

Transaction

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
The property located at 4521 West Ogden
Avenue, Chicago, Illinois.

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
the property located at 2815 S. Hamlin
Avenue Chicago, Illinois.

Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for the
property located at 2905 Throop, Chicago,
Illinois.
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12 6/17/2009 Loan Request submitted to Arcola Bank for
property located at 604 East 90th Place,
Chicago, Illinois.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1014.

COUNT THIRTEEN
(Money Laundering)

25. On or about August 31, 2009, in Douglas County, in the Central District of

Illinois, and elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

defendant herein, knowingly engaged in a monetary transaction by, through, and to a

financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a

value greater than $10,000, that is, the transfer of $22,000 United States currency from

Harris Bank account #4804249222 in the name of IIArcola Funding ll to Harris Bank

account #4804674020 in the name of IIJ.D. II, his wife, such property having been derived

from a specified unlawful activity, that is, bank and wire fraud.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2.
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COUNT FOURTEEN - SIXTEEN
(Money Laundering)

26. On or about December 18, 2008, in Douglas County, in the Central District

of Illinois, and elsewhere,

SALVATORE DIBENEDETTO,

defendant herein, knowingly engaged in a monetary transaction by, through, and to a

financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a

value greater than $10,000, that is, the transfer of United States currency from Harris

Bank account #480324000 in the name of "KB." to Harris Bank accounts described

below controlled by DiBenedetto and another, such property having been derived from

a specified unlawful activity, that is, bank and wire fraud, each transfer constituting a

separate count:

Count

14

15

16

Amount

$150,000

$100,000

$50,000

Transfer to Harris Bank Account

"X-Factor Marketing" #4803240000

"X-Factor LLC" #4803235708

"X-Factor Marketing" #4803770018

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2.

A TRUE BILL.

;:;;~ =-.
•

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
EMP

FOREPERSON
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s/Matthew J. Cannon
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